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I, JENNIFER N. FITZGERALD, on oath depose and state as 

follows: 

1. I am an attorney licensed to practice in the Commonwealth of

Massachusetts since 1987. 

2. I have been employed by the Hampden County District

Attorney’s Office (“HCDAO”) since 2011 and have served as the First 

Assistant District Attorney since 2013. 

3. As First Assistant, I am familiar with the operations of the

office, including the establishment of office policies.  This includes policies 

relating to the disclosure of exculpatory evidence (so-called Brady 

disclosures).  In that capacity I participated in or am aware of many 

communications between the HCDA Office and other government agencies, 

including the United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”), the United States 

Attorney’s Office, the Springfield Police Department (“SPD”), and the City 

of Springfield.  I have also participated in or am aware of the time and 

manner in which various materials have been disclosed to defense counsel in 

satisfaction of the HCDAO’s obligations under Brady. 

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE REPORT 

4. I am aware of a report prepared by the United States

Department of Justice regarding its 27-month long pattern and practice 
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investigation of the Springfield Police Department and released on July 8, 

2020.  (C.R.A. 3-30).   The DOJ investigation was conducted using materials 

and interviews provided by the SPD.  Since its publication, I have 

participated in or been privy to numerous conversations regarding the DOJ 

report.   I have also participated in the HCDAO’s continuing attempts to 

obtain the pertinent documents as well as the specific details underlying the 

report’s findings. 

5. Among others, these attempts have included the following:

a. On July 20, 2020, I participated in a telephone conversation

with Assistant United States Attorney Torey Cummings from the Civil 

Rights Division.  During the course of the conversation, I verbally requested 

that our office be provided with the SPD reports that DOJ investigators 

referenced in their report as “falsified reports” (C.R.A. 00004).  I expressly 

stated the information was necessary in order to meet our Brady and Rule 14 

legal and ethical obligations.  She told me that she would pass along the 

request to her supervisors and get back to me. 

b. On July 28, 2020, I left a follow-up message for AUSA

Cummings, to which she responded by email that they were still considering 

my request. 
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c. On August 6, 2020, I participated in a conference call with

AUSA Cummings and AUSA Jude Volek, at which time they stated they 

were denying the HCDAO’s request for underlying documents and 

additional details regarding their report and their findings. 

d. On August 19, 2020, I helped draft and review letters from the

Hampden County District Attorney to United States Assistant Attorney 

General Eric S. Dreiband and United States Attorney for Massachusetts 

Andrew E. Lelling requesting production or disclosure of the “false” or 

“falsified” SPD reports and attendant photographs and/or digital images. 

(C.R.A. 00227-00231). 

e. On September 14, 2020, I reviewed second letters from the

Hampden County District Attorney to United States Assistant Attorney 

General Eric S. Dreiband and United States Attorney for Massachusetts 

Andrew E. Lelling again requesting SPD documents (to which the HCDAO 

had received no response), and citing this Court’s recent decision in Matter 

of a Grand Jury Investigation.   

f. On October 29, 2020, I received a copy of USA-MA Lelling’s

letter to the HCDAO’s denying our request for documents and details.  The 

letter was the “final agency decision” in response to the Touhy request.  

HDA R.A.003
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g. On December 2, 2020, I reviewed and helped draft a letter from

Hampden County District Attorney Anthony Gulluni to Springfield Police 

Commissioner Cheryl Clapprood requesting the underlying documents cited 

in the DOJ report. (C.R.A. 00211-00213). 

h. On December 10, 2020, I was provided a copy of the letter from

Springfield City Solicitor Edward M. Pikula to HCDA Gulluni stating that 

the City had no information that would permit it to identify the incidents 

described in the DOJ report.  Attorney Pikula further assured the HCDAO 

that the SPD would comply with its obligations to disclose Brady material in 

the department’s possession to prosecutors. (C.R.A. 00214-00216) 

i. On March 11, 2021, I helped draft and review a letter from

HCDA Gulluni to the Springfield City Solicitor, agreeing to the review of 

tens of thousands of pages of SPD documents in order to meet the 

HCDAO’s Brady/Giglio obligations. 

j. On April 26, 2021, the City Solicitor indicated he would

forward some of the requested documents along with a suggested method 

and manner for review of the 114,000 pages the DOJ accessed for their 

report.  To date the HCDAO has not received any of those documents. 

6. On May 19, 2021, having exhausted all other options to obtain

documents from the DOJ or the USA-MA, Hamden County District 
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Attorney Gulluni filed a federal civil law suit against the United States 

Attorney for the District of Massachusetts, Docket No. 3:21-cv-30058.  The 

lawsuit seeks access to information that formed the basis of the DOJ report, 

which the HCDAO must review in order to fulfill its constitutional 

responsibility to learn of and disclose exculpatory evidence. 

HAMPDEN COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY’S 
ON-GOING BRADY COMPLIANCE 

7. Although the HCDAO had previously made disclosures of

potentially exculpatory information in unrelated cases even before the 

Supreme Judicial Court’s decision in Matter of a Grand Jury Investigation, 

485 Mass. 641 (2020), the District Attorney recognized the significance of 

that opinion and its holding.  Based on the Court’s advice to district 

attorneys’ offices, 485 Mass. at 658-660, as well as the HCDAO’s 

understanding of the potentially widespread consequences of the decision, 

the District Attorney convened a working group of experienced prosecutors 

within the office to formulate policy, review specific cases, and provide 

guidance to all assistant district attorneys.  This group, of which I am a 

member, continues to meet and communicate regularly to study and develop 

appropriate policies on Brady/Giglio issues and to address individual 

situations.  The working group also monitors the evolution of the law in this 

area.  As part of the efforts to comply with the disclosure obligations as 
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stated in Matter of a Grand Jury Investigation, the District Attorney sent a 

letter to all police chiefs in Hampden County, including SPD’s police 

commissioner, requesting the departments disclose the type of information 

in the approved federal Giglio policy.  Further, as it had done even before 

September 2020, the HCDAO continues to seek out and disclose this type of 

material on an on-going basis as required by individual cases. 

8. Further, the District Attorney for Hampden County has retained

the services of Robert J. Cordy, a former associate justice of this Court to 

advise him and assist the working group in reviewing current discovery 

policies and practices, and developing, where necessary, new office policies 

and best practices surrounding Brady obligations. 

NATHAN BILL’S INCIDENT 

9. In August 2015, the HCDAO received a completed

investigation file from Springfield Police Department Captain Trent Duda. 

The investigation concerned allegations of misconduct, including possible 

assault or excessive use of force, by members of the SPD during an 

encounter with four civilians outside Nathan Bill’s bar in April 2015.  The 

HCDAO had had no previous involvement in this investigation.  The 

HCDAO’s role was to review the SPD investigation to determine whether 

any criminal charges were warranted.  

HDA R.A.006
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10. According to his report, Captain Duda first learned of the

incident when one of the four civilians filed a complaint on May 7, 2015, 

alleging officer misconduct.  Captain Duda then interviewed multiple 

witnesses, some on more than one occasion.  He showed photographs of 

potentially involved officers to the witnesses, who were unable to identify 

the assailants.  He also recovered video surveillance footage, which did not 

show the alleged assault.   Completing his investigation,  Captain Duda 

concluded that he was unable to establish an identification of the assailants 

by any alternative means.   

11. I was involved with the review of the file on behalf of the

HCDAO.  As part of my review, I watched the videotape interviews of the 

witnesses.  The conflicting statements and evidence, as well as the serious 

nature of the underlying allegations, raised questions and concerns.  I also 

received reports from two separate later investigations conducted by the 

Internal Investigation Unit, which summarized the IIU’s unrecorded oral 

interviews of various witnesses.  Because of the continued receipt of 

additional information and the many factual discrepancies, the HCDAO 

necessarily delayed our final decision until February 2017.  At that time, for 

the reasons set forth in the file memo, including the absence of a positive 

civilian identification, the HCDAO determined that there was no probable 
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cause to file charges against any of the individual officers.  (C.R.A. 00044-

00052). 

12. The United States Department of Justice, which was reviewing

the Bigda video from the February 2016 juvenile arrests, also reviewed the 

file pertaining to the Nathan Bill’s incident, which the HCDAO voluntarily 

provided to the DOJ.  The DOJ declined to file charges, but referred the case 

to the Massachusetts Attorney General’s Office.  Sometime in 2018, the 

HCDAO was contacted by the Attorney General’s Office, which indicated 

that it intended to convene a grand jury to investigate the Nathan Bill’s 

incident.  Again, the HCDAO voluntarily shared its file with the Attorney 

General’s Office. 

13. In March 2019, the Attorney General’s Office announced

indictments against fourteen SPD officers.  Four of those indictments have 

been dismissed, and the cases remain pending against the remaining 

defendants.  None of the SPD officers have pleaded or been convicted. 

(HDA R.A. 022). 

14. After the indictments were handed down, the HCDAO

requested that the Attorney General’s Office provide us with any 

exculpatory information pertaining to the case so that we could meet our 

ethical and legal obligations to defendants in cases involving these officers. 

HDA R.A.008
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In response, the Attorney General’s Office provided us with a single-page 

letter summarizing the charges against each officer.  (C.R.A. 00257-00272). 

The Attorney General’s Office did not provide us with the indictments or 

other pertinent documents. 

15. The HCDAO provided the Attorney General’s letters to CPCS,

bar advocates and individual defense attorneys as cases arose with the 

involved officers.  We had no other documents to provide regarding this 

matter.  (C.R.A. 00249 ¶3(c)). 

FEBRUARY 2016 BIGDA INCIDENT 

16. I am familiar with events related to Springfield Police Officer

Gregg Bigda that occurred in Palmer, Massachusetts, on February 27, 2016 

during the arrest of three juveniles who were subsequently charged with 

stealing an unmarked police cruiser.  In accordance with the usual practice 

of the HCDAO to pursue potentially exculpatory evidence, on February 29, 

2016, the office requested DVDs from the Palmer Police Department.  On 

March 14, 2016, the office received nine hours of DVD recording, which 

were made available to the three defense counsel representing the juveniles.  

Defense counsel retrieved these DVDs from the HCDAO on April 25, 2016. 

17. The first time anyone in the HCDAO became aware of the

contents of the DVDs was on July 11, 2016, when the assistant district 
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attorney assigned to prosecute the matter sat down to watch all nine hours of 

video as part of his preparation for trial.  When he saw the interaction 

between Detective Bigda and the juveniles, he immediately brought the 

video to the attention of his supervisor, who informed me.  Our office 

informed the SPD, which was apparently unaware of the incident, of the 

existence of this video and provided it with copies of the DVDs. 

18. The events depicted on the DVD raised difficult questions

about whether and to whom disclosure was required (this video preceded 

this Court’s decision in Matter of a Grand Jury Investigation by more than 

four years), how to protect the identity of the juveniles if disclosure was to 

be made in unrelated cases, how to identify cases in which Bigda was 

involved, the nature of his involvement, and whether the questions about 

admissibility in unrelated cases affected the office’s disclosure obligations. 

19. After research and discussion, the HCDAO decided to disclose

the video as widely as possible, and to ask the receiving defense attorneys to 

agree to a non-disclosure order to protect the identities of the juveniles.  The 

HCDAO instructed all ADAs to seek a court ordered protective order before 

disseminating the video in any matter where defense counsel did not agree to 

the non-disclosure order. 
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FEDERAL GRAND JURY TRANSCRIPTS 

20. In December 2018, the HCDAO learned that seven SPD

officers had testified before federal grand jury several months earlier.  This 

information came not from the United States Attorney, but SPD Captain 

Philip Tarpey, who informed me that he had learned of the testimony from 

the Springfield City Solicitor.  The City Solicitor had learned of the 

testimony during a deposition of SPD Commissioner Barbieri in a civil suit 

against SPD officers by a lawyer representing one of the officers.  It was 

during this deposition that the City Solicitor obtained transcripts for five 

SPD officers (Kalish, Ayala, Robles, Kent and Cournoyer) from the lawyer, 

and gave them to Captain Tarpey, instructing him to provide the transcripts 

to the HCDAO.   

21. The HCDAO received the five transcripts on December 13,

2018, and began to disseminate them five days later, on December 18, 2018. 

Although it was unclear, factually and legally, whether these transcripts 

represented Brady material, the HCDAO nevertheless notified CPCS and bar 

advocates and the materials were disseminated by ADAs in individual cases 

as well.  (C.R.A. 00254). 

22. The HCDAO also made a written request to the United States

Attorney for the transcripts of all officers who had appeared before the grand 
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Jury. These were received in April and June 2019, accompanied by orders 

from United States District Judge Mastroianni permitting dissemination only 

for purposes of satisfying Brady obligations. These new transcripts were 

disseminated to defense counsel as appropriate. 

2021. 

Signed under the Pains and Penalties of Perjury this 25th day of May, 

�'7?��«d
U�RN. F� RALD 

First Assistant District Attorney, 
Hampden County 
BBO# 550089 
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HAMPDEN, SS. 

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 
DEPARTMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT 

COMMONWEALTH 

V. 

 

DISTRICT COURT 
SPRINGFIELD DIVISION 
Docket #  

NOLLE PROSEQUI: ALL COUNTS 

Now comes the Commonwealth in the above entitled complaint and enters a nolle prosequi as to 
ALL COUNTS for the following reasons: 

The offense occurred on December 17, 2018. The Defendant was a passenger in a vehicle, which 
was stopped based on a suspicion that a firearm was in the vehicle. No firearm was located. 

The Defendant is alleged to have resisted officers' commands after having been brought to the 
ground. 

In the twenty months since the incident, the Defendant has not accrned any further criminal 
charges. As of 08/10/2020 the Defendant' s criminal record shows zero convictions, with this 
case being his only unresolved matter. 

The Commonwealth has weighed the alleged conduct against the Defendant' s Jack of criminal 
history, the age of the case, and the scheduling challenges posed by the ongoing pandemic. 

DATED: 08/10/2020 

Respectfully submitted, 
THE COMMONWEALTH 

4-~~ 
Christopher Nickels 
Assistant District Attorney 
Sp1ingfield District Court 
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in a cruiser with his partner for that evening, Officer James D' Amour, working midnight to eight 

a.m. patrolling the area known as "Hotel 3." At approximately 1:16 a.m., Perez and D' Amour

became aware of a call from Springfield dispatch regarding a report of a disturbance in the area 

of a bar known as Nathan Bill's (the "Nathan Bill's disturbance call"). Although not directed to 

do so by dispatch, Perez and D' Amour drove to the area of Nathan Bill's to assist on the call. 

Perez testified that upon arriving at Nathan Bill's, he saw another marked cruiser outside 

• the bar and two uniformed officers interacting with three visibly upset males.2 He testified that

he also observed "a group of IO to 20 people outside smoking, talking and just being around the

entrance to the bar." Among the group of people around the entrance, Perez saw John Sullivan,

the owner of Nathan Bill's, and off-duty police officers Melissa Rodriguez, Daniel Billingsley

and Christian Cicero. Perez spoke to Sullivan. Sullivan told Perez that the three individuals with

whom the other uniformed officers were speaking had been "causing a ruckus at the bar and

were asked to leave." Perez then spoke to Cicero, who "veriflied] the story of the bar owner."

Perez testified that he did not recall speaking to anyone else from the group around the bar

entrance. Within a few minutes, the three individuals who had been asked to leave Nathan Bill's

left. Perez and D' Amour stayed at the scene for a short time after to make sure that the

individuals had left and then returned to their patrol.

Less than an hour after the Nathan Bill's disturbance call, shortly after 2 a.m., Perez and 

D' Amour received a call for a disturbance near Murphy's Pop Shop on Island Pond Road (the 

"Murphy's Pop Shop disturbance call"). Murphy's Pop Shop is near Nat.han Bill's. Perez and

D' Amour drove to Murphy's Pop Shop to assist. There were other uniformed police oflicers at 

2 Perez testified that he could not recall if a second cruiser was also at the scene. He testified that 
he remembered one cruiser and two officers but could not recall whether the officers were 
Darren Nguyen and Shavonne Lewis or Derrick Gentry-Mitchell and Jeremy Rivas. 

2 
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the scene when Perez and D' Amour arrived as well as four males, three of whom were the 

individuals asked to leave Nathan Bill's earlier.3 One of the four males was injured and lying on 

the ground. Perez spoke with the individuals, who told him that "they got attacked or beat up by 

a group of white people" who "took off on Island Pond Road." The individuals also told Perez 

that they had gone back to Nathan Bill's and "got jumped by a group of white people." Perez did 

not ask the individuals where their assailants had come from or for a more detailed description of 

the assailants. 

Perez and D' Amour then returned to their cruiser and drove to "the top oflsland Pond 

Road and off to maybe some of those side streets coming off ofrsland Pond Road" to look for 

the assailants. Perez and D' Amour then returned to the Murphy's Pop Shop parking lot. The 

drive took approximately two to five minutes. When they returned, Perez asked Bortolussi, the 

. officer in charge, what to do but did not receive any directions. Perez observed an ambulance at 

the scene with emergency medical technicians treating one of the individuals. Perez also 

observed one of the individuals in handcuffs in the back of a cruiser, then observed Bortolussi 

order the individual to be released. The four individuals left the scene in a car that arrived to 

pick them up. In sum, Perez admitted to no knowledge that off-duty police officers were 

involved in the Murphy's Pop Shop disturbance. 

EMT John Sheehan-Ferreira testified before the grand jury on February 14, 2018. He 

stated that upon arriving at the parking lot of Murphy's Pop Shop he encountered "kind ofa 

hectic scene. There was a few cruisers and a handful of gentlemen besides the cops .... All the 

gentlemen on scene were pretty ripped up. They were going on about how they just got into a 

3 Perez could not recall which officers were at the scene when he and D' Amour arrived. He 
testified that, at some point, Sergeant Louis Bortolussi, Lewis, Nguyen, Gentry-Mitchell and 
Rivas were all there. 

3 
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bar fight and had just gotten beaten up by off-duty officers." When asked by the prosecutor, 

"how loud were those individuals stating that they had been jumped or had a fight with off-duty 

officers," Sheehan-Ferreira answered: "Very loud," and noted that uniformed officers were in the 

vicinity at that time. Michael Cintron, one of the African-American male victims, testified 

before the grand jury on February 8, 2018. He testified that as marked cruisers arrived in the 

aftermath of the assault in the parking lot ofMm-phy's Pop Shop, he informed police that "[w]e 

just got jumped by guys from the bar. They just walked back to the bar." 

On July 24, 2015, Perez submitted a report concerning the morning of April 8, 2015 to 

Captain Trent Duda. Prior to submitting the report, Perez received a list of questions to address 

in the report. The list of questions was entered as an exhibit during D' Amour's testimony to the 

grandjury on February 21, 2018. One of the questions to be addressed was, with respect to the 

Nathan Bill's disturbance call, "Upon arrival what did you see occurring?" On August 17, 2015, 

Perez submitted a report to Sergeant William Andrew concerning the morning of April 8, 2015. 

Perez's July 24, 2015 report and his August 17, 2015 report were entered as exhibits before the 

grand jury on March 27, 2019. 

In his July 24, 2015 report, Perez stated, with regard to the Nathan Bill's disturbance call, 

"Upon arrival, we observed three black males, one of whom appeared to be very upset and was 

yelling, leaving the bar." Perez also described seeing "a crowd of people standing outside of the 

entrance of the bar," among whom Perez "observed Officers C. Cicero, D. Billingsley, and M. 

Rodriguez." Perez stated that "[w]e spoke with people on scene, as well as one of the bar 

owners, known to me as 'Sully,' who stated that the male who was visibly upset was kicked out 

of the bar for causing a disturbance." In his August 17, 2015 report, Perez added that, when 

responding to the Nathan Bill's disturbance call, he spoke with Christian Cicero, who stated "that 

4 
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the male who was upset was kicked out of the bar by the owner." 

With regard to the Murphy's Pop Shop disturbance call, Perez stated, in his July 24, 2015 

report, that he observed "four black males" when he arrived at the scene, one of whom appeared 

to be injured and three of whom had been asked to leave Nathan Bill's earlier. Perez stated that 

the African American males told him and D' Amour that they had returned to Nathan Bill's and 

"were 'jumped' by a group of white people" who "took off, heading north on Island Pond Road." 

In his August 17, 2015 report, Perez added that one of the African-American males told Perez 

and D' Amour to go look for the assailants, stating, "Go do what you guys do." On March 27, 

2019, the grand jury returned indictments against Perez for perjury, misleading and making a 

false report. All of the charges are based on the contention that Perez knew, when responding to 

the Murphy's Pop Shop disturbance, that off-duty police officers were involved in the 

disturbance but omitted this information from his grand jury testimony and his written reports. 

DISCUSSION 

A. Standard-Probable Cause

In order to issue a valid indictment, the grand jury must "hear sufficient evidence to 

establish the identity of the accused and probable cause to arrest." Commonwealth v. McCarthy, 

385 Mass. 160, 163 (1982). "It is well established that '[p]robable cause to arrest requires more 

than mere suspicion but something less than evidence sufficient to warrant a conviction."' 

Commonwealth v. Rex, 469 Mass. 36, 40 (2014), quoting Commonwealth v. Roman, 414 Mass. 

642, 643 (1993). "The standard of sufficiency has been defined as whether the grand jury heard 

reasonably trustworthy information sufficient to warrant a prudent man in believing that the 

defendant had committed or was committing an offense." Commonwealth v. Goldstein, 54 

Mass. App. Ct. 863, 866 (2002). Circumstantial evidence, which "is competent to establish guilt 

5 
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beyond a reasonable doubt," Commonwealth v. Gilbert, 423 Mass. 863,868 (1996), may 

certainly establish probable cause to indict. See Commonwealth v. Torres, 442 Mass. 554, 563 

(2004) ("The evidence, although entirely circumstantial, was sufficient to support" the 

conviction); Commonwealth v. Guerrero, 32 Mass. App. Ct. 263, 266 (1992) ("web of 

circumstantial evidence" supported conviction). "An inference drawn from circumstantial 

evidence need only be reasonable and possible; it need not be necessary or inescapable." 

Gilbert, 423 Mass. at 868. "Whether an inference is wan·anted or is impermissibly remote must 

be determined, not by hard and fast rules of law, but by experience and common sense.:' 

Commonwealth v. Gonzalez, 452 Mass. 142, 146 (2008). For an indictment to survive a motion 

to dismiss, "the grand jury must simply have been presented with evidence supporting a finding 

of probable cause as to 'each of the ... elements' of the charged crime." Commomvealth v. 

Walczak, 463 Mass. 808,817 (2012), quoting Commonwealth v. Moran, 453 Mass. 880,884 

(1984). An invalid indictment is subject to dismissal. lvfcCarthy, 385 Mass. at 163. 

B. Perjury

The elements of pe1jury are (I) that the defendant made a statement under oath in a 

judicial proceeding; (2) the statement was false; (3) the defendant made the statement willfully 

and knew the statement was false when he made it; and ( 4) the statement was material to the 

issue or point in question. See Commonwealth v. White, 70 Mass. App. Ct. 71, 76 (2007). 

Knowledge that a statement was false "may be inferred from the falsity of the statement itself 

when considered in relation to the defendant's opportunity to have knowledge." 

Commonwealth v. Giles, 350 Mass. I 02, l 12 (1966), overruled on other grounds, 

Commonwealth v. lvfcDuffee, 379 Mass. 353 (1979). 

The Commonwealth claims that Perez perjured himself in his grand jury testimony by 

omitting from his testimony that he knew, on April 8, 2015, that off-duty police officers were 

6 
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involved in the Murphy's Pop Shop disturbance. In order to sustain the perjury indictment, 

therefore, the Commonwealth must have presented evidence to the grand jury sufficient to 

warrant a belief that Perez did km;iw that off-duty officers were involved in the Murphy's Pop 

Shop disturbance. See Walczak, 463 Mass. at 817 (grand jury must hear evidence supporting a 

finding of probable cause as to each element of charged crime). The Commonwealth did not do 

so. 

From the evidence presented, the grand jury could have inferred that one or more 

unidentified police officers on the scene were aware that the victims were alleging that off-duty 

police officers were involved in the physical altercation. The grand jury could have inferred 

this (1) from Sheehan-Ferreira's testimony, which was that uniformed police officers were in 

the vicinity when one of the victims loudly stated that they "had just gotten beaten up by off­

duty officers"; and (2) from Cintron's testimony that, when police arrived at the scene, he told 

police that "[w]e just got jumped by guys from the bar." 

There was no evidence, however, that Perez heard the statement referred to by Sheehan­

Ferreira or that Perez was the officer (or one of the ofiicers) to whom Cintron spoke. Sheehan­

Ferreira did not state which police officers were in the vicinity when the victim stated that they 

"had just gotten beaten up by off-duty officers." And Cintron did not identify to which officer 

or officers he made the statement. Importantly, Perez arrived at Murphy's Pop Shop after other 

officers, and, after his arrival, left the scene to drive to "the top of Island Pond Road and off to 

maybe some of those side streets coming off of Island Pond Road" to look for the assailants. 

Finally, the Commonwealth presented no evidence from which the grand jury could infer that 

anyone at the scene told Perez about the victims' statements. 

The Commonwealth argues that the grand jury could infer that Perez knew that off-duty 
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police officers were involved in the assault outside of Murphy's Pop Shop because his not 

knowing was "unbelievable," citing to Commonwealth v. Brown, 55 Mass. App. Ct. 440,447 

(2002). Brown is inapposite. In Brown, the Appeals Court held that the grand jury heard 

sufficient evidence to indict the defendant for perjury where the grand jury heard direct 

evidence of the falsity of the defendant's testimony and where the defendant's testimony 

contained "internal contradictions and strong improbabilities." Brown, 55 Mass. App. Ct. at 

447. Here, there was no direct evidence that Perez knew that off-duty officers were involved in

the Murphy's Pop Shop disturbance and the Commonwealth does not point to any internal 

contradictions in Perez's testimony. 

Rather, the Commonwealth insists that Perez could not have been ignorant of the 

involvement of off-duty officers in the earlier Nathan Bill's disturbance and, because he knew 

that off-duty officers were involved in the earlier Nathan Bill's disturbance, he must have 

realized that off-duty police officers were involved in the later Murphy's Pop Shop disturbance. 

The Commonwealth argues that Perez must have known that off-duty officers were involved in 

the earlier Nathan Bill's disturbance because there were off-duty police officers at Nathan 

Bill's when Perez responded to the Nathan Bill's disturbance call and because the two people 

that Perez spoke to while at the scene of the Nathan Bill's disturbance call, Sullivan and Cicero, 

knew that off-duty officers were involved in the earlier altercation. These two facts were 

insufficient, however, to warrant the grand jury in believing that Perez knew that off-duty 

officers were involved in the earlier Nathan Bill's disturbance. They cannot, therefore, support 

the further inference that Perez realized that off-duty officers were involved in the Murphy's 

Pop Shop disturbance. 

Because the grand jury heard insufficient evidence to warrant a belief that Perez knew 
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that off-duty officers were involved in the Murphy's Pop Shop disturbance, the perjury charge 

must be dismissed. See McCarthy, 385 Mass. at 163, quoting Commomvealth v. Stevens, 362 

Mass. 24, 26 (1972) (holding that indictment defective where grand jury did not hear 

"'reasonably trustworthy information ... sufficient to warrant a prudent man in believing that 

defendant had committed or was committing an offense"'). 

C. Misleading

General Laws c. 268, § 13B, effective from November 4, 2010 to April 12, 2018, 

provided, in pertinent part, "[ w ]hoever, directly or indirectly, willfully ... misleads ... a ... 

grand juror, prosecutor, police officer, ... [or] investigator ... with the intent to impede, 

obstruct, delay, harm, punish or otherwise interfere thereby ... with [a criminal investigation, 

grand jury proceeding [or] other criminal proceeding of any type] shall be punished .... " G.L. c. 

268, § 13B (1) (c) (iii) & (v) (effective November 4, 2010 to April 12, 2018).4 

"[M]islead[ing]" is not defined in § 13B, but the Supreme Judicial Court, relying on the 

definition for "misleading conduct" in the federal witness tampering statute, has defined it, in 

part, as "knowingly making a false statement" or "intentionally omitting information from a 

statement and thereby causing a portion of such statement to be misleading, or intentionally 

concealing a material fact, and thereby creating a false impression by such statement." 

Commonwealth v. Tejeda, 476 Mass. 817, 818-819 (2017), quoting 18 U.S.C. § !515(a)(3) 

(2012). Realizing that this definition is, to some extent, circular, the Supreme Judicial Court 

has clarified that, "misleading conduct within the meaning of§ 13B is conduct that is intended 

to create a false impression such that it was reasonably likely to send investigators astray or in 

the wrong direction." Tejeda, 476 Mass. at 820. Therefore, to find a defendant guilty of 

\ 

4 Section 138 was revised effective April 13, 2018. 
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violating§ 13B, "the jury would need to find not only that the statement was false, but that it 

reasonably could have led law enforcement officers to pursue a materially different course in 

their investigation from one they otherwise would have pursued because it sent them in the 

wrong direction." Commonwealth v. Paque/te, 475 Mass.793, 805 (2016). 

The Commonwealth argues that the grand jury heard sufficient evidence to waTant a 

belief that Perez violated the misleading statute during his grand jury testimony and in his 

written reports dated July 24, 2015, and August 17, 2015 by omitting from them that he knew, 

on April 8, 2015, that off-duty police officers were involved in the Murphy's Pop Shop 

disturbance. As noted above, the grand jury heard insufficient evidence, however, to warrant a 

belief that Perez did know, on April 8, 2015, that off-duty police officers were involved in the 

Murphy's Pop Shop disturbance. Accordingly, the misleading charge must be dismissed. See 

McCarthy, 385 Mass. at 163. 

D. False Renort

It is a crime to "intentionally and knowingly make[] or cause[] to be made a false report 

of a crime to police officers." G.L. c. 269, § 13A. In order to violate the statute, the false 

statement must have been knowing and intentional, Commonwealth v. Salyer, 84 Mas�. App. Ct. 

346, 351-352 (2013), and the false information given to the police must be material. See 

Fortuna, 80 Mass. App. Ct. al 52 ("to violate the statute, the defendant has to have made a 

substantially inaccurate accounting of a crime, not just have reported some untrue detail related 

to it"). The Commonwealth claims that Perez made false reports when he omitted from his 

written reports dated July 24, 2015 and August 17, 2015 that he knew, on April 8, 2015, that off­

duty officers were involved in the Murphy's Pop Shop disturbance. As noted above, the grand 

jury heard insufficient evidence, however, to warrant a belief that Perez did know, on April 8, 

10 

HDA R.A.047



2015, that off-duty officers were involved in the Murphy's Pop Shop disturbance. Because there 

was insufficient evidence to warrant a belief that Perez's statements were false, the false report 

charge must be dismissed. See lvfcCarthy, 385 Mass. at 163. 

ORDER 

For the reasons set forth above, Defendant's Motion to Dismiss is ALLOWED. 

DATE: .Tanua1y 3, 2020 �5\, 
Justice of the Superior Court 
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HAMPDENss. 

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 

SUPERIOR COURT 

ACTION NO. 1979CR0016S 

COMMONWEALTH 

LOUIS BORTOLUSSI 

MEMORANDUM OF DECISION AND 

ORDER ON DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS 

The defendant, Louis Bortolussi, a Springfield police officer, is charged with making a 

false report in violation of G.L. c. 269, § 13A. The charge stems from two written reports 

submitted by Bortolussi within the police department concerning events occurring in the early 

morning of April 8, 2015. Borto!ussi argues that the false report indictment against him should 

be dismissed because the evidence presented to the grand jury was insufficient as a matter oflaw 

to establish the requisite probable cause.1 For the reasons set forth below, Bortolussi's motion to

dismiss is ALLOWED. 

BACKGROUND 

On February 16, 2018, Bortolussi testified before the grand jury. On March 27, 2019, 

two written reports submitted by Bortolussi within the Springfield Police Department were 

entered as exhibits: a report to Captain Trent Duda dated July 27, 2015 (the "July 27, 2015 

report"), and an undated report to Sergeant William Andrew (the "undated report"). Also 

presented to the grand jury were the testimony of other witnesses and numerous other exhibits. 

The testimony and other evidence presented to the grand jury, viewed in the light most favorable 

1 Bortolussi is also charged with perjury in violation of G.L. c. 268, § l (Action No. 1979CR00340, charge 1) and
misleading in violation ofG.L. c. 268, § 13B (Action No. 1979CR00340, charge 2). The instant motion concerns 
only the false report charge, not the perjury or misleading charges. 
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to the Commonwealth, set forth the following:2 

In the early morning of April 8, 2015, a group of off-duty Springfield police officers was 

drinking at a bar known as ''Nathan Bill's." While there, some of the off-duty officers became 

involved in a verbal altercation with a group of African-American males, who then left the bar. 

Three police cruisers, with on-duty officers Darren Nguyen, Shavonne Lewis, Jeremy Rivas, 

Denick Gentry-Mitchell, James D' Amour and Nathaniel Perez, responded to the scene. Outside 

of Nathan Bill's, the on-duty officers saw a number of off-duty police officers. Officers Lewis 

and Nguyen were told by the bar owner that off-duty police officers were involved in the 

altercation inside the bar. The on-duty police officers spoke to the African-American males and 

returned to their respective patrols after the African-American males left the area on foot. 

On April 8, 2015, Bortolussi was working a midnight to 8 am. shift as the sergeant 

overseeing uniformed officers in the Southern Division of Squad A of the Springfield Police 

Department. As part of his duties that evening, Bortolussi monitored police radio 

communications. At approximately 1 :16 a.m., Bortolussi heard a call for a disturbance at Nathan 

Bill's. He also heard a communication from an officer on scene stating that they were "all set'' at 

the scene, meaning that the responding police officers did not need further assistance from other 

officers. Bortolussi did not respond to the Nathan Bill's disturbance call. At approximately 2:04 

a.m., Bortolussi heard a call for a disturbance near Murphy's Pop Shop, which is located within a

thirty second to two minute walk from Nathan Bill's. Bortolussi responded to the Murphy's Pop 

Shop disturbance call, arriving after on-duty officers Nguyen, Lewis, Rivas, Gentry-Mitchell, 

1 The facts recited here pertain to evidence before the grand jury concerning the truthfulness of 
statements made by Bortolussi in the July 27, 2015 report and the undated report. The parties are 
familiar with facts presented to the grand jury concerning the evening of April 7, 2015 and the 
early morning of April 8, 2015 as I have recited them in previous decisions in related cases. I, 
therefore, do not repeat them here. 
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D' Amour, and Perez. Bortolussi testified that he arrived either right after the ambulance arrived 

or at the same time as the ambulance. Also at the scene were four African-American male 

victims. 

As sergeant, Bortolussi was the officer in charge at the Murphy's Pop Shop scene. 

Bortalussi testified that as the ranking officer on the scene, his job was ta make sure that the 

victims received medical attention, that a report was made by the responding officers, and that all 

of the civilians left the scene safely. Borta]ussi testified that he did not recall speaking to any of 

the African-American males on the scene. He stated that one of the victims was treated in the 

ambulance and then, after leaving the ambulance, was placed in in the back of a cruiser to "calm 

down" because "he was getting a little hysterical." Bortolussi testified that he told Nguyen to 

gather the facts and write an incident report. Bortolussi testified that although he spoke to other 

on-duty officers an the scene, he did not remember what the conversations were about. 

Bortolussi further testified that he did not recall hearing anything while he was on the 

scene of the Murphy's Pop Shop disturbance that suggested that off-duty Springfield police 

officers might have been involved in the disturbance. In his July 27, 2015 report, in describing 

his response to the Murphy's Pop Shop disturbance call, Bortolussi stated, "I was not aware that 

this altercation might have involved off duty police officers." Similarly, in his undated report, 

Bortolussi stated, "I ... was not informed that any on duty or off duty Officers were involved in 

this incident or the earlier incident at 0116hrs [slc]." 

Among the exhibits presented to the grand jury were reports of police interviews with 

Jozelle Ligon, one of the four African-American males assaulted outside of Murphy's Pop Shop. 

Ligon stated that he told responding police officers that he believed the assailants were off-duty 

police officers. Michael Cintron, another of the victims, testified before the grand jury on 
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February 8, 2018 that, as marked cruisers arrived in the aftermath of the assault in the parking lot 

ofMurphy's Pop Shop, he informed police that "Iw]ejust got jumped by guys from the bar. 

They just walked back to the bar." EMT John Sheehan-Ferreira testified before the grand jury 

on February 14, 2018. He stated: "All the gentlemen on scene were pretty ripped up. They were 

going on about how they just got into a bar fight and had just gotten beaten up by off-duty 

officers." When asked by the prosecutor, "how loud were those individuals stating that they had 

been jumped or had a fight with off-duty officers," Sheehan-Ferreira answered: "Very loud," and 

noted that uniformed officers were in the vicinity at that time. 

Rivas testified that he learned at the scene that the victims had been attacked by a group 

of men from Nathan Bill's with whom they had the verbal altercation earlier, that off-duty 

officers were at the bar, and that the victims' assailants "could have been police officers." Rivas 

testified that he did not recall having any conversation with Bortolussi at the scene but that he 

informed Nguyen and Lewis that the assailants might have been off-duty police officers. He 

further testified that it is Springfield Police Department policy for a superior officer, such as a 

sergeant, to write the incident report when police officers are involved in an incident, and that he 

was surprised to learn that Nguyen was tasked with writing the report. Rivas testified that after 

be informed Nguyen that the assailants may have been off-duty police officers, he saw Nguyen 

and Bortolussi have an argument but did not hear what the two said. Nguyen testified that 

Bortolussi told him to release the victim Nguyen had previously placed in the back of his cruiser. 

Nguyen further testified that he did not agree with Bortolussi's order because he thought that the 

person in the back ofhis cruiser should be arrested, and that he told Bortolussi so. Nguyen 

testified that he was angry with Bortolussi but he did what he was ordered to do. 

On March 27, 2019, the grand jury returned indictments against Bortolussi for perjury, 
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misleading and making a false report 

DISCUSSION 

A. Standard-Probable Cause

In order to issue a valid indictment, the grand jury roust "hear sufficient evidence to 

establish the identity of the accused and probable cause to arrest." Commonwealth v. McCarthy, 

385 Mass. 160, 163 (1982). "It is well established that '[p]robable cause to arrest requires more 

than mere suspicion but something less than evidence sufficient to warrant a conv:iction."' 

Commonwealth v. ReJC:, 469 Mass. 36, 40 (2014), quoting Commonwealth v. Roman, 414 Mass. 

642, 643 (1993). "The standard of sufficiency has been defined as whether the grand jury heard 

reasonably trustworthy information sufficient to warrant a prudent man in believing that the 

defendant had committed or was committing an offense." Commonwealth v. Goldstein, 54 

Mass. App. Ct. 863, 866 (2002). Circumstantial evidence, which "is competent to establish guilt 

beyond a reasonable doubt," Commonwealth v. Gilbert, 423 Mass. 863, 868 (1996), may 

certainly establish probable cause to indict. See Commonwealth v. Torres, 442 Mass. 554, 563 

(2004) ("The evidence, although entirely circumstantial, was sufficient to support" the 

conviction); Commonwealth v. Guerrero, 32 Mass. App. Ct. 263, 266 (1992) ("web of 

circumstantial evidence" supported conviction). "An inference drawn from circumstantial 

evidence need only be reasonable and possible; it need not be necessary or inescapable." 

Gilbert, 423 Mass. at 868. "Whether an inference is warranted or is impermissibly remote must 

be determined, not by hard and fast rules oflaw, but by experience and common sense." 

Commomvealth v. Gonzalez, 452 Mass. 142, 146 (2008). For an indictment to survive a motion 

to dismiss, "the grand jury must simply have been presented with evidence supporting a :finding 

of probable cause as to 'each of the ... elements' of the charged crime." Commonwealth v. 
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Walczak. 463 Mass. 808, 817 (2012), quoting Commonwealth v. Moran, 453 Mass. 880, 884 

(1984). An invalid indictment is subject to dismissal. McCarthy, 385 Mass. at 163. 

B. False Report

It is a crime to "intentionally and knowingly make[] or cause[] to be made a false report 

of a crime to police officers." G.L. c. 269, § 13A. In order to violate the statute, the false 

statement must have been knowing and intentional, Commonwealth v. Salyer, 84 Mass. App. 

Ct 346, 351-352 (2013), and the false information given to the police must be material. See 

Commonwealth v. Fortuna, 80 Mass. App. Ct. 45, 52 (2011) ("to violate the statute, the 

defendant has to have made a substantially inaccurate accounting of a crime, not just have 

reported some untrue detail related to it"). According to the bill of particulars, Bortolussi made 

a false report (I) when be stated, in his July 27, 2015 report that "I was not aware that this 

altercation might have involved off duty police officers" and (2) when he stated, in bis undated 

report, "I ... was not informed that any on duty oi: off duty Officers were involved in this 

incident or the earlier incident at 0116hrs [sic]." 

From the evidence presented, the grand jury could have concluded that Rivas, Nguyen, 

and Lewis were aware that off-duty police officers might have been involved in the Murphy's 

Pop Shop assault. The grand jury could have concluded this based on (1) Rivas's testimony 

that he told Nguyen and Lewis that the assailants might have been off-duty police officers; (2) 

from Sheehan-Ferreira's testimony that uniformed police officers were in the vicinity when one 

of the victims loudly stated that they "had just gotten beaten up by off-duty officers"; (3) from 

Ligon's statement that he told responding police officers that he believed the assailants were 

off-duty police officers; and (4) from Cintron's testimony that, when police arrived at the scene, 

he told police that "[ w]e just got jumped by guys from the bar." There was no evidence, 
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however, that Rivas, Nguyen or Lewis told Bortolussi that off-duty police officers might have 

been involved or that Bortolussi, rather than one or more of the six uniformed officers who 

arrived at the scene before Bortolussi heard the statements referred to by Sheehan-Ferreira, 

Ligon, and Cintron. 

The Commonwealth argues that"[ c ]ommon sense dictates" that the knowledge of 

Rivas, Nguyen and Lewis concerning the possible involvement of off-duty officers "can 

reasonably be imputed to the defendant, especially where the defendant served as the only 

ranking officer on scene responsible for supervising the assault the [sic] investigation" and that 

the facts of this case are similar to those in Fortuna. In Fortuna, the defendant, who had been 

shot in the leg, reported to police that he did not know by whom or why he was shot and that 

the shooter was far away. See Fortuna, 80 Mass. App. Ct. at 47. Gunshot residue on the 

defendant's pants indicated that the shooter was no more than eighteen inches away from the 

defendant at the time of the shooting, thus contradicting the defendant's statement that the 

shooter was far away. See id. at 50. Despite a lack of evidence concerning what actoally 

happened, i.e., whether the defendant was shot by another person or accidentally shot himself, 

the Appeals Court stated, "we believe the jury could reasonable [sic] have convicted [the 

defendant] of falsely reporting a crime without knowing what really happened." Fortuna, 80 

Mass. Ct. at 53-54. Unlike in Fortuna, there was no evidence contradicting Bortolussi's 

statements that he was unaware of the possible involvement of off-duty officers. Nor was there 

evidence of anything inconsistent with Bortolussi being unaware of the involvement of off-duty 

police officers. Compare Commonwealth v. Brown, 55 Mass. App. Cl 440, 447 (2002) (noting 

that internal contradictions and strong improbabilities contained in defendant's testimony 

corroborated direct evidence before grand jury that testimony false). 1n these circwnstances, 

7 

HDA R.A.055



any conclusion that Bortolussi knew that off-duty officers were involved in the Murphy's Pop 

Shop assault was not based on "common sense" but, rather, on suspicion alone. See 

Commonwealth v. Rex, 469 Mass. 36, 40 (2014), quoting Commonwealth v. Roman, 414 Mass. 

642, 643 (1993) (probable cause requires more than mere suspicion). 

ORDER 

For the reasons set forth above, Defendant's Motion to Dismiss is ALLOWED. 

DATE: January 22, 2020 ��>· 
MARK D MA"'sON 
Justice of the Superior Court 
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